1 2 3 4	Peter Dubowsky, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 4972 DUBOWSKY LAW OFFICE, CHTD. 300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1020 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 [702] 260 2500 Electronically Filed Mar 24 2021 01:36 p.m.					
5	(702) 360-3500 Fax (702) 360-3515 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court					
6	Attorney for Appellant					
7	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA					
9	PLATTE RIVER INSURANCE) Case No.: 81974					
10	COMPANY					
11	Appellant,					
12))					
13	SUSAN JACKSON; and LANCE) JACKSON					
15 16	Respondents)					
17						
18						
19	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF					
20	Approx					
21	APPEAL From the Ninth Judicial District Court, Douglas County

Statement Of The Issues Presented For Reviewxi					
Statement of the Case					
Procedural and Factual History					
Summary of the Arguments6					
Argument9					
A.	Standard of Review9				
B.	Statutory Interpretation				
C.	Judgment Enforcement Exemptions for Debtors10				
D.	The Statutory Language of N.R.S. 21.090(1)(z) Does Not Allow Applying the Wildcard with the Wage Garnishment				
E.	The Legislative History Proves that the Wildcard Does Not Apply to Wages				
F.	Subsection (1)(z) Glaringly Omits "wages" or "earnings" in its statutory illustrations				
G.	In the same 2017 Legislative Session when the Legislature Increased the Wildcard Exemption Ten-Fold from \$1,000 to \$10,000, Which Would Have Drowned the Entire Wages Exemption, the Legislature Also Made Some Minor "Fine-Tuning" to the Wage Exemption, Demonstrating that the Two				

24

1		Exemptions Operated Independently of Each Other				
2		Ouici				
3	H.	Applying the Wildcard to Wages Produces Absurd on				
4		Unreasonable Results Because It Forces Every Wage Garnishment Into a Court Hearing; and a Court Hearing for				
5		Every Withholding Period on Wages17				
6	т					
7	I.	Compliance with Applying Both the Wage and Exemption and the Wildcard Simultaneously Would be Practically				
8		Impossible				
9	J.	Respondent's Interpretation that the \$10,000 Wildcard Can Be				
10		Applied to Produce Absurd or Unreasonable Results Because				
11		if the \$10,000 Wildcard is Applied to Wages, Then While the Wildcard is Being Applied, 180 Days of Post-Judgment				
12		Interest Accrues and Garnishment Costs Continue to Accrue				
13		71001uc				
14	K.	It Was Error for the District Court to Extend the Legislative				
15		Grant of Exemptions to Future Interests in Property24				
16	Conclusion	25				
17	, ,					
18	Attorney's Certificate2					
19						
20						
21						
22						

1 **Table of Authorities** C. 2 **A.** Cases 3 Carson-Tahoe Hosp. v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades, 4 5 In re Christensen, 6 122 Nev. 1309 (2006)......11 7 Dodge City Healthcare Group v. Chaudhry 8 (D. Nev. June 9, 2010 Case No. 09-00091).....ix 9 In re Frei Irrevocable Trust, 133 Nev. 50, 52 (2017).....9 10 11 Hobbs v. State, 127 Nev. 234, 237 (2011)......10 12 13 Koster Finance v. Ken Vi Lu (Las Vegas Justice Court 16C019573).....ix 14 15 In re Lenox, 58 B.R. 104, 106 (Bankr.D.Nev.1986)......11 16 Nev. Board of Parole Commissioners v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of 17 Nev., 18 135 Nev.Adv.Op. 53, 451 P.3d 73 (Nev. 2019)......10, 12 n.12 19 Pub. Agency Comp. Tr. v. Blake, 20 127 Nev. 863, 866 (2011).....9 21 Savage v. Pierson, 123 Nev. 86 (2007)......11 22 23 Torres v. Nev. Direct Ins. Co., 24 25 Weinstein v. Fox (In re Fox), 129 Nev. 377 (2013)......11

1	B. <u>Nevada Constitution</u>
2	Nevada Const. art. 1, § 14
4	C. <u>Statutes</u>
5	N.R.S. §4.370(1)(a)x n.6, 10
6	N.R.S. §21.025
_	N.R.S. §21.090(1)
7	N.R.S. §21.090(1)(g)vii n.1, viii, 12, 19, 20, 21
8	N.R.S. §21.090(1)(z)vii, viii, 6, 11, 15
9	N.R.S. §21.112(1)x n.4, 8, 18, 19, 24
	N.R.S. §21.112(2)18
10	N.R.S. §21.112(3)7 n.6, 18
11	N.R.S. §21.112(6)x n.4, 2, 8 n.7, 11 n.10, 18
	N.R.S. §31.249(2)(b)
12	N.R.S. §31.296(1)
13	N.R.S. §73.010(1)x n.5
14	Oregon Revised Statute §18.345(1)(p)13
15	D. Rules
16	N.R.A.P. 17(a)(11)viii, x
17	N.R.A.P. 17(a)(12)viii
	N.R.A.P. 17(b)(7)viii n.2
18	
19	E. Administrative Orders
20	Ninth Judicial District Court Administrative Order 20-074 n.3
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

1

2

6 7

10

11

12

13 14

15 16

17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24

Jurisdictional Statement Basis for Appellate Jurisdiction D.

This is an appeal from a post-judgment District Court Order that ruled that the Judgment Debtor/Respondent could apply the \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption (N.R.S. §21.090(1)(z)) (the "\$10,000 Wildcard" or "Wildcard") to her "attachable wages." 1

On October 6, 2020, the Respondent/Judgment Debtor filed a Notice of Entry of Order Upon Claim of Exemption dated September 29, 2020 (the "Exemption Order"). (AA114-AA122). The Judgment Creditor filed their timely Notice of Appeal on October 15, 2020. (AA123-124)

This Court's February 8, 2021 Order Reinstating Briefing ruled that the Exemption Order was properly appealable.

¹ By "attachable wages" this Brief is referring to that portion of Respondent's wages that are not exempt under the Wage Exemption (§21.090(1)(g)). In this case Respondent's attachable earnings are approximately 25% of her earnings. Further, this Brief will use the terms "wages" "salary" or "earnings" interchangeably.

E. Routing Statement

This appeal involves a substantial issue of first impression (N.R.A.P. 17(a)(11)), and a matter raising a principal issue of statewide public importance (N.R.A.P. 17(a)(12)), presumptively retaining the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court.²

The issue on appeal is whether the \$10,000 Wildcard of N.R.S. \$21.090(1)(z) judgment enforcement exemption can be used on the 25% attachable portion of a Judgment Debtor's wages. The Appellant Judgment/Creditor Platte River ("Appellant") levied a garnishment on the salary of Respondent/Judgment Debtor Susan Jackson ("Respondent" or "Jackson"). Jackson filed a Claim of Exemption, claiming both the existing Wage Exemption on her wages (that is automatically applied pursuant to N.R.S. \$21.090(1)(g)), and then claiming an additional \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption on the remaining 25% attachable portion of her wages. At the expedited exemption hearing, the District Court's ruled that under its interpretation of the exemption statute, the Respondent could apply the \$10,000 Wildcard to the attachable portion of her wages.

This District Court's interpretation, contrary to other courts, but likely the first Nevada district court decision on this issue, has potential state-wide impact. The District Court's interpretation goes against the language of the Wildcard statute, renders a clause of the Wildcard statute meaningless, contradicts the

² Pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(b)(7), post-judgment orders in a civil case are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

legislative history, produces absurd or unreasonable results, and extends the legislative grant.

Whether the \$10,000 Wildcard can be applied to attachable wages is a substantial issue of first impression, and a matter raising a principal issue of statewide public importance. This issue of Nevada statutory interpretation is coming before Nevada district courts and justice courts with increasing frequency. So much so that in February 2020, the Las Vegas Justice Court issued a 16-page written opinion holding that the \$10,000 Wildcard cannot be applied to attachable wages. (The Las Vegas Justice Court Order Regarding Claim of Exemption from Execution in Koster Finance v. Ken Vi Lu (Las Vegas Justice Court 16C019573) is attached).

Also in the federal court, the Nevada U.S. District Court in <u>Dodge City</u> <u>Healthcare Group v. Chaudhry</u> (D. Nev. June 9, 2010 Case No. 09-00091), wherein the Federal Court denied a judgment debtor's attempt to claim wages under the "wildcard" exemption.³ (AA058-AA61)

Contrary to the other decisions, the District Court in the case *sub judice* has interpreted the Nevada statute to allow the \$10,000 Wildcard to be applied to attachable wages. Among the myriad of absurd and unreasonable results produced by the District Court's interpretation, it would force every court to hold Wildcard exemption hearings on every wage garnishment. A judgment

³ The opinions are not being cited for precedential value, but to show that other courts have issued decisions on this important issue and have ruled contrary to this District Court's ruling, creating a split of authority and statewide uncertainty.

debtor would have the right to claim a Wildcard Exemption when a routine wage garnishment is served.⁴ Further, if a judgment debtor can claim the \$10,000 Wildcard on their wages, it would render every small claims judgment⁵ and most justice court judgments⁶ unenforceable and effectively nullified, because the Wildcard would exceed the amount of the judgment, prohibiting and preventing wage garnishments to enforce smaller judgments.

In light of the District Court's Exemption Order finding that the \$10,000 Wildcard can be applied to wages, the Supreme Court's involvement is necessary pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(a)(11) and (12).

⁴ The wage exemption is "non-judicial" because the employer automatically withholds by following the formula set forth in N.R.S. §21.075. A hearing on a claim of exemption for wages is only necessary if the withholding exceeds the exemption for that pay period. (N.R.S. §21.112(1)("If the property that is levied on is the earnings of the judgment debtor, the judgment debtor must file the claim of exemption pursuant to this subsection within 10 days after the date of each withholding of the judgment debtor's earnings.") However, a claim on the \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption triggers a mandatory court hearing (N.R.S. §21.112(6)).

⁵ Pursuant to N.R.S. §73.010(1), small claims court jurisdiction is up to \$10,000, confining every small claims court judgment to within the Wildcard exemption amount.

⁶ Pursuant to N.R.S. §4.370(1)(a), justice court jurisdiction is limited to \$15,000.

SMI LAW OFFICE, CILLD.

F. Statement of the Issues Presented for Review

Did the District Court err when it applied the \$10,000 Wildcard exemption to the 25% attachable portion of Respondent's wages, when the District Court's interpretation goes against the language of the exemption statute, renders a clause of the Wildcard statute meaningless, contradicts the legislative history, causes injury to creditors, produces absurd or unreasonable results, and extends the legislative grant?

I. Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from a District Court Order granting Respondent's \$10,000 Wildcard claim of exemption on the 25% attachable portion of Respondent's earnings.

The relevant proceedings are in the post-judgment enforcement, execution, and exemption claim stage of this District Court case. By way of background, Appellant Platte River Insurance is a bonding company. The Respondents, Susan and Lance Jackson, signed an indemnity agreement on the bond. Appellant paid losses on the Bond, and accordingly brought this action against them to enforce the indemnity agreement. (AA001-AA003). Around June 2020, Appellant was granted summary judgment against Respondents in the approximate amount of \$50,000. (AA008-AA016)

Respondent, Susan Jackson, is an employee of the State of Nevada Parole Board. Around August 2020, Appellant levied a wage garnishment on Susan's salary. Respondents responded with Claims of Exemption, listing approximately seven exemptions including the \$10,000 Wildcard, among several inapplicable exemptions. (AA026-AA029) Appellant promptly moved for a hearing to determine the exemption, addressing all the claimed exemptions. (AA030-AA036) The Appellant's Motion to Determine Exemption addressed each exemption claim, briefed the Wildcard, and

requested an expedited hearing as required by N.R.S. §21.112(6). Essentially, the judicial day prior to the hearing, just before traveling up to Minden for the in-person hearing, Respondent filed an Opposition that more fully discussed the Wildcard exemption. (AA038-AA061). The Respondent's September 1, 2020 Opposition attached as an exhibit an order from the District Court in a different case involving Respondent's counsel, wherein the District Court ruled that the \$10,000 Wildcard could be applied to attachable wages. (AA052-AA056). At the September 4, 2020 court hearing in Minden, the District Judge ruled that consistent with his prior order in another case that he could apply the \$10,000 Wildcard to attachable wages. (AA112-AA122). This timely appealed followed.

With due respect to the District Court, the District Court's interpretation of the Nevada exemption statute is incorrect and must be reversed.

II. Procedural and Factual History

- 1. On May 1, 2020, the District Court entered an Order Granting [Plaintiff/Appellant's] Motion for Summary Judgment. (AA008-AA016)
- 2. On June 2, 2020, the District Court entered a Judgment based on the May 1, 2020 Order Granting [Plaintiff/Appellant's] Motion for Summary Judgment. (AA017-AA020)

3. In or around August 13, 2020, the Plaintiff/Appellant garnished the earnings of Defendant/Judgment Debtor/Respondent Susan Jackson.¹ (AA021-AA024)

- 4. On August 14, 2020, the Nevada State Controller responded to the Writ of Garnishment Interrogatories, "Yes. The State uses a biweekly pay period. Defendant is employed by the Parole Board and presently earns \$41.28 per hour." (AA025)
- 5. On or around August 24, 2020, Susan Jackson, through her counsel, served an Affidavit of Claim of Exemption asserting no less than seven (7) exemptions including 1) homestead exemption; 2) private library, works of art, etc.; 3) household goods and furnishings; 4) 75% of disposable earnings; 5) \$10,000 Wildcard; 6) money in her retirement plan; and 7) her 2019 Jeep Grand Cherokee. (AA026-AA029)
- 6. On August 27, 2020, Plaintiff timely filed and served a Motion to Determine Issue of Exemption ("Motion") and submitted a proposed Order Setting Hearing. The Motion addressed each claim of exemption in brief. The

¹ Susan Jackson is an employee of the State of Nevada. Therefore, the Appellant caused the Carson City Sheriff to serve the Writ of Garnishment on the Nevada State Controller in accordance with N.R.S. §31.249(2)(b).

_	l
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

Motion also briefed that the \$10,000 Wildcard did not apply.² (AA030-AA036)

- 7. On September 1, 2020, the District Court signed the Order Setting Hearing for September 4, 2020 at 8:30am in Ninth Judicial District Court in Minden.³ (AA037)
- 8. On September 1, 2020, after office hours⁴, the Defendant/Respondent's attorney e-mailed a courtesy copy of their Opposition to Platte River's Motion Regarding Exemption. (AA038-AA061) The Opposition's Exhibit 1 consisted of the District Court's December 5, 2018 Order on Appeal from East Fork Township Justice Court, wherein the District Court ruled that the \$10,000 Wildcard can applied to wages. (AA051-AA56)

² It should be noted that at the time the Plaintiff/Appellant filed the Motion, it appeared that the Defendant/Respondent was not asserting the \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption claim with any more sincerity than her claim that Plaintiff/Appellant was executing on her private library or her Jeep.

Ninth Judicial District Court hearings are held in person unless otherwise ordered by the court (see August 17, 2020 Administrative Order 20-07).

⁴ The dates, times and places are relevant in order to demonstrate that it was not until Wednesday after-hours that Plaintiff/Appellant was even on notice of the fact that the 1) Plaintiff/Appellant was not only seriously asserting the \$10,000 Wildcard on her wages, but 2) that the District Court had already decided the issue in a previous case with Respondent's counsel. Plaintiff/Appellant's counsel had to travel on Thursday September 3, 2020 for the 8:30am September 4, 2020 hearing in Minden, when the ruling was made.

	1	
	2	
	3	
	4	
	5	
	6	
	7	
	8	
	9	
1	0	
1	1	
1	2	
1	3	
1	4	
1	5	
1	6	
1	7	
1	8	
1	9	
2	0	
2	1	
2	2	
2	3	
2	4	
2	5	

- 9. The Hearing was held September 4, 2020 as scheduled, wherein the District Court ruled that the \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption could be applied to wages.
- 10. On October 6, 2020, Defendant/Respondent served Notice of Entry of the September 29, 2020 Order Upon Claims of Exemption (the "Exemption Order"). (AA112-AA122)
- 11. On October 15, 2020 Plaintiff/Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal. (AA123-AA124)
- 12. Subsequently, in or around November 2020, during the 180 days of the Exemption Order's implementation, the Plaintiff/Appellant served a bank account execution on the Wells Fargo bank accounts of Defendant/Respondent Susan Jackson.
- 13. On or around December 2, 2020, Susan Jackson filed an Affidavit of Claim Exemption, claiming among other exemptions, another \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption, this time on her bank accounts. (AA125-AA128)
- 14. Respondent Susan Jackson attempted to withdraw her Wildcard claim of exemption on her wages that had already been granted in the Exemption Order, and to switch her Wildcard to her Wells Fargo bank accounts. In Defendant/Respondent's January 2021 Brief in Support of [Respondents'] Affidavits of Exemption, the Respondent asserted incorrectly

(on Page 9 of 18, lines 17-19 (AA137)) that while her wages were still being applied to the Wildcard "Susan continues to have a considerable amount of the Wildcard Exemption remaining available to her."

III. Summary of the Arguments

The District Court's Exemption Order finding that the \$10,000 Wildcard can be applied to attachable wages must be reversed because:

- As a matter of statutory construction, the District Court's Interpretation is incorrect because the limiting language in N.R.S. §21.090(1)(z) "not otherwise exempt from execution pursuant to this subsection" is meant to exclude otherwise exempt property (such as wages). Second, the District Court's interpretation of the meaning of that clause (namely that the clause means that the Wildcard could be applied to any property that was not already claimed as exempt), renders the clause superfluous and meaningless. Under the District Court's interpretation, the Wildcard subsection would have the same meaning with or without the quoted clause.
- Having established that the Wildcard statute either expressly excludes its application to wages, or it is ambiguous, the Court may look to legislative history. The Legislative History expressly states that the Wildcard does not affect the wage garnishment.

- If the \$10,000 Wildcard Exemption were intended to be applied to the common wage garnishment, the subsection would have included "wages," "salary" or "earnings" among its statutory illustrations.
- In the same 2017 Legislative Session, when the Wildcard was increased ten-fold from \$1,000 to \$10,000, which would have drowned out the entire wages exemption, the Legislature also made some minor "fine-tuning" to the Wage Exemption, demonstrating that the tsunamic \$10,000 Wildcard was neither intended to wash away the nuanced wage exemption, nor to affect its application.
- The District Court's statutory interpretation applying the \$10,000 Wildcard to wages produces absurd or unreasonable results because this interpretation would force every wage garnishment into a court hearing to apply the \$10,000 Wildcard. The District Court's statutory interpretation would load a crushing burden upon all Nevada courts for every wage garnishment. While the wage garnishment exemption is a "non-judicial" exemption that does not require court intervention, the \$10,000 Wildcard, on the other hand, requires an affidavit claiming the exemption⁵, a motion by the judgment creditor to determine the exemption⁶, and a hearing.⁷ If the \$10,000

⁵ N.R.S. §21.112(1).

⁶ N.R.S. §21.112(3).

Wildcard could be applied to wages, then every judgment debtor would be entitled to claim the Wildcard for every wage execution, and therefore be entitled to a court hearing to determine that Wildcard on every wage garnishment. Compounding this absurd or unreasonable result, N.R.S. §21.112(1) requires a claim on wages to be filed after each paycheck withholding period. Therefore, the District Court's interpretation would also open the door to court hearings for every paycheck withholding period.

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