Michael G. Millward, Esquire Millward Law, Ltd. Nevada Bar No. 11212 1591 Mono Ave Minden, NV 89423 (775) 600-2776 Attorney for Respondents

Electronically Filed May 10 2021 06:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

) Case No. 81974
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

## **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

APPEAL
From the Ninth Judicial District Court, Douglas County
The Honorable THOMAS W. GREGORY, District Judge
District Court Case No. 19CV0197

#

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court correctly determined that NRS 21.090(1)(g), pertaining to wage garnishment exemption and NRS 21.090(1)(z) (also referred to as "wildcard exemption") pertaining to the claim of exemption up to \$10,0000 of "any personal property not otherwise exempt from execution," can be applied cumulatively to exempt 100% of the debtor's wages.

Platte River argues that NRS 21.090(1)(z) can only apply to property where

no other exemption has been claimed. The plain meaning of the statutes in question establish that Platte River's interpretation is incorrect.

The language of the statues in question are not ambiguous and this Court should apply the plain meaning of the statute in reviewing the district court's decision.

NRS 21.090(1) exempts the property delineated in its subsections except as it pertains to property specifically excluded.

NRS 21.090(1)(z) as defined by statute and the other statutory definitions found in Title 2 of the Nevada revised statutes clearly establishes that the wildcard exemption is applicable to any and all personal property selected by the debtor, including a debtor's disposable earning held in a financial account.

The phrase "not otherwise exempt" found in NRS 21.090(1)(z) should be found to mean any property selected by the debtor that is not exempted under any other exemption within NRS 21.090(1). The phrase does not imply that the "any property" is excluded where it is partially exempted under NRS 21.090. Furthermore, NRS 21.090(1)(z) does not provide for the specific exclusion of property as required under NRS 21.090(1) and as shown in the numerous exemptions within its subsections.

Additionally, Platte River's interpretation of the application of NRS 21.090(1)(z) is not being employed in the bankruptcy court, and does not comport

with this Court's previous suggested use of NRS 21.090(1)(z) to supplement other exemptions to exempt property that would otherwise not be exempt.

Platte River's citation to legislative history is informative, but fails to yield the legislators understanding and intention as it pertains to the expansion of the wildcard exemption from \$1,000 to \$10,000, and is therefore unavailing.

Lastly, no absurd result occurs through the plain application of the wildcard exemption. The legislature has given debtors a tool to exempt more of their property for their own protection and needs. Sophisticated debtors will be more likely to exempt more of their wages, and debtors who fail to exercise their rights to claim an exemption will be subject to garnishment.

Accordingly, little will change. However, the application of the satute will require the debtor and the creditor to look at new and additional ways to settle and satisfy judgment debts.

## **ARGUMENT**

## A. Standard of Review

Statutory interpretation served as the basis of the District Court's decision, and thus, de novo review is appropriate. *See Waldman v. Maini*, 124 Nev. 1121 1129, 195 P.3d 850, 856 (2008).

#### **B. Statutory Interpretation**

When reviewing de novo, Nevada's courts interpret statutes by their plain meaning unless the statute is ambiguous. *People Nev. v. Miller*, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1171 (2008). "Thus, when the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, such that it is capable of only one meaning, this court should not construe that statute otherwise." Becker v. Becker, 131 Nev. 857, 362 P.3d 641 (2015)(quoting MGM Mirage v. Nev. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 125 Nev. 223, 228-29, 209 P.3d 766, 769 (2009).

Appellant has admitted that NRS 21.090(1)(z) is not ambiguous. In Platte River's August 27, 2020 Motion to Determine the Issue of Exemption (hereinafter "Exemption Motion") and at the hearing on September 4, 2020, Platte River argued that the language "any property not otherwise exempt from execution" from NRS 21.090(1)(z) prevents application of the "wildcard" exemption to any other property that is partially or fully exempt under any other exemption including wages under NRS 21.090(1)(g). Tr. at 12:12-12:19.; AA032. Platte River argued that the District Court's interpretation would create an absurd result, but Platte River did not argue in its Exemption Motion, or at the September 4, 2020 hearing, that the plain language of the statute creates an absurd result. Likewise, the District Court did not consider the legislative history. AA0121

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tr. at 11-23:11-24; Tr. at 12-13:12-14; Tr. at 13-17; Tr. at 14-1:14-2; Tr. at 14-10:14-12; Tr. at 42-1:42-3.

Section 14 of Article One of the Nevada Constitution mandates "[t]he privilege of the debtor to enjoy the necessary comforts of life be recognized by wholesome laws, exempting a reasonable amount of property from seizure or sale for payment of any debts or liabilities." Nev. Const., art. 1, § 14.

The legislative purpose of NRS 21.090 is "to secure to the debtor the necessary means of gaining a livelihood, while doing as little injury as possible to the creditor." *In re Galvez*, 115 Nev. 417, 419, 990 P.2d 187, 188 (1999) (*quoting Krieg v. Fellows*, 21 Nev. 307, 310, 30 P. 994, 995 (1892).

This Court has gone so far as to state that "the exemptions set forth in NRS 21.090 are 'absolute and unqualified,' with few exceptions, 'and [their] effect is to remove property beyond the reach of the legal process." *Savage v. Pierson*, 123 Nev. 86, 90, 157 P.3d 697, 700 (2007) (*quoting Elder v. Williams*, 16 Nev. 416, 423 (1882)).

The statutes NRS 21.090(1)(g) and NRS 21.090(1)(z) are unambiguous, simple and straight forward, and are not susceptible to multiple meanings. The result complained of, the exemption of additional wages from garnishment, fits within the fits within the intentions for debtor exemptions under the Nevada Constitution and the legislative purpose behind NRS 21.090.

Accordingly, the Court should conclude that looking beyond the plain language of these statutes to determine their meaning and application is unnecessary.

## C. NRS 21.090(1)(z): "Any Personal Property"

NRS 21.090(1)(z) has been called the "wildcard exemption" meaning it can be applied to any and all property as determined by the debtor up to the exemption amount. *See In re Newman*, 487 B.R. 193, 196 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2013).

At issue is the meaning of NRS 21.090(1)(z) and whether "any personal property not otherwise exempt" includes "earnings" as defined under NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2).

NRS 21.090(1), NRS 21.090(1)(g), and NRS 21.090(1)(z) provide as follows in pertinent part:

- 1. The following property is exempt from execution, except as otherwise specifically provided in this section or required by federal law: (g) For any work week, . . . 75 percent of the disposable earnings of a judgment debtor during that week . . . As used in this paragraph:
- (1) "Disposable earnings" means that part of the earnings of a judgment debtor remaining after the deduction from those earnings of any amounts required by law to be withheld.
- (2) "Earnings" means compensation paid or payable for personal services performed by a judgment debtor in the regular course of business, including, without limitation, compensation designated as income, wages, tips, a salary, a commission or a bonus. The term includes compensation received by a judgment debtor that is in the possession of the judgment debtor, compensation held in accounts maintained in a bank or any other financial institution or, in the case of a receivable, compensation that is due the judgment debtor.
- (z) Any personal property not otherwise exempt from execution pursuant to this subsection belonging to the judgment debtor, including, without limitation, the judgment debtor's equity in any property, money, stocks, bonds or other funds on deposit with a

financial institution, not to exceed \$10,000 in total value, to be selected by the judgment debtor.

It is notable under the definitions given in NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2) that "earnings" are defined to include "compensation" in the debtor's possession and also "compensation held in accounts maintained in a bank or any other financial institution." *See* NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2).

Likewise, NRS 21.090(1)(z) defines "personal property" to include "money" and "other funds on deposit with a financial institution." *See* NRS 21.090(1)(z).

Chapter 10 ("General Provisions") within Title 2 ("Civil Practice") of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides definitions that are applicable to Chapters 10 through 22.

Personal property is defined in Chapter 10 to include "money, goods, things in action, and evidences of debt." In other words, everything except for real property. *See* NRS 10.065 (defining "property"); NRS 10.075 (defining "real property").

The definitions of "personal property," "real property," and "property" found in Chapter 10 are repeated verbatim in Chapter 28 of Title 3 ("Remedies; Special Actions and Proceedings"), which also pertains to Chapters 28 through 43 of the Nevada Revised Statutes which includes Chapter 31 ("Attachment, Garnishment and Other Extraordinary Remedies"). *See* NRS 28.050 (defining

"personal property"; NRS 28.080 (defining "real property"); NRS 28.070 ("property").

"Money" is defined in Chapter 17 ("Judgments") of Title 2 in NRS 17.500 as "a medium of exchange for the payment of obligations or a store of value authorized or adopted by a government or by intergovernmental agreement." NRS 17.500.

Application of the foregoing definitions make it clear that a debtor's "earnings" are the also the debtor's "personal property." It is also clear that there is overlap between the two statutes with both NRS 21.090(1)(g) and NRS 21.090(1)(z) being applicable to funds held in a "financial institution." *See* NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2); NRS 21.090(1)(z).

Remarkably Platte River does not cite to or discuss the above definitions in detail or the definition of "earnings" as defined under NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2) in its Brief. It further fails to address the overlap between funds held in financial accounts as specifically provided as exempt under both NRS 21.090(1)(g) and NRS 21.090(1)(z). *See* Appellant Br.

Accordingly, the Court should conclude that there is no dispute that "any personal property" in NRS 21.090(1)(z) is applicable to a debtor's "earnings" as defined in NRS 21.090(1)(g)(2). See id.

## D. NRS 21.090(1)(z): "Not Otherwise Exempt"

Pursuant to NRS 21.090(1) a debtor has the right to claim all property delineated in the exemptions that follow "except as specifically provided in this section." *See* NRS 21.090(1).

Because NRS 21.090(1) requires that property be specifically excluded for Respondent Susan Jackson's wages not to be exemptible under NRS 21.090(1)(g) and NRS 21.090(1)(z), one or both statutes would be required to specifically exclude the property. *See id*.

The crux of Platte River's argument before the District Court is that the phrase "not otherwise exempt" in NRS 21.090(1)(z) serves to limit exemptions application to property where no other exemption had been claimed. Tr. at 12:12-12:19; AA032. However, the plain meaning of the statute doesn't support Platte River's interpretation.

NRS 21.090(1)(z) applies to "[a]ny personal property." The word "any" has been interpreted by the U.S. Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals to be "all encompassing" or "all-inclusive." *See e.g. United States v. Williams*, 514 U.2. 527, 531-32, 115 S.Ct. 1611 (1995) (interpreting "any" in tax statute); *Barker v. Riverside Cty. Office* of Ed. 584 F.3d 821, 825-26 (9th Cir.2009) (finding "any" to be "all-inclusive"); *Lockett v. Ericson*, 656 F.3d 892,898 (9th Cir. 2011) (finding "any issue" to mean "all inclusive").

Thus, NRS 21.090(1) and NRS 21.090(1)(z) means "all property" not exempt by way of some other exemption, chosen by the debtor, is exempt from execution up to \$10,000. *See* NRS 21.090(1)(z); NRS 21.090(1).

Comparing NRS 21.090(1)(z) to other exemptions proves that the language "not otherwise exempt" is not language limiting application of the exemption to specific property. One good example is NRS 21.090(1)(g) which provides specific exclusions as to disposable earnings subject to "any order . . . for the support of any person, any order of a court of bankruptcy or of any debt due for any state or federal tax." NRS 21.090(1)(g).

NRS 21.090(1)(n) exempts security deposits except as to landlords seeking to enforce a rental or lease agreement. *See* NRS 21.090(1)(n).

NRS 21.090(1)(bb) exempts stock in a closely held corporation except as to charging orders as provided under NRS 78.746. *See id.*; NRS 78.746.

NRS 21.090(1)(r)(5) exempts funds contributed to a 529 account, unless the funds were deposited after the entry of a judgment. *See Id.* 

All of these exceptions are specific as to the property that is exempt as required by NRS 21.090(1).

It is also notable that Platte River's interpretation does not conform to this Court's own suggested use of the wildcard exemption, or the practical use of the

exemption occurring in the United States Federal Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nevada.<sup>2</sup>

In the case *Becker v. Becker*, 131 Nev. 857, 362 P.3d 641 (2015), this Court was tasked with determining the scope of NRS 21.090(1)(bb) pertaining to a debtor's right to exempt an interest in stock in a closely held corporation. *See id*. The Nevada Supreme Court determined that a debtor could exempt the debtor's noneconomic interest in a closely held corporation, but the economic interests in the stock, dividends and income distributions were subject to a charging order remedy provided by NRS 78.746(1). *See* 131 Nev. at 863, 362 P.3d at 644.

In *Becker*, the Court's discussed the "Wildcard Exemption," and determined that "the debtor can still apply the wildcard exemption to retain up to \$1,000 in distributions from the corporation." 131 Nev. at 863, 362 P.3d at 645 (citations omitted).

It's noteworthy to point out that in the Becker decision, the Court concluded that prospective economic distributions were exemptible under the wildcard exemption even though the charging order exemption was applicable to the equity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See Becker v. Becker, 131 Nev. 857, 362 P.3d 641, 645 (2015)In re Gagow, 590 B.R. 512 (Bankr. Nev. 2018); see also In re Acosta and Fonsecz, Bankr. D. Nev.: 17-15347-MKN, p.3, lns. 14-17. <a href="https://www.nvb.uscourts.gov/downloads/opinions/mkn-17-15347-jorge-a-acosta-beatriz-fonseca.pdf">https://www.nvb.uscourts.gov/downloads/opinions/mkn-17-15347-jorge-a-acosta-beatriz-fonseca.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> NRS 21. 090(1)(z) was amended in 2017 by the Nevada Legislature by Appellant Br. p.314, which provided for an increase in the exemption amount from \$1,000 to \$10,000.

interest of the corporate asset. *See id*. In other words, the wildcard exemption was not excluded because the interest in the corporate asset was not "otherwise exempt." *See id*.

The federal bankruptcy cases *In re Gagow*, as well as the bankruptcy case *In re Acosta and Fonsecz*, are cited above as examples of the regular use of the wildcard exemption to exempt property not completely exempt under some other exemption.

In *Gagow* for example the debtor sought to exempt \$25,000 in cash pursuant to NRS 21.090(1)(g) and NRS 21.090(1)(z). 590 B.R at 520. Notably, in *Gagow*, the bankruptcy trustee's challenge to the claimed exemptions pertain to the type of property exempted; property distributed from an IRA rather than the claim of exemption of property under NRS 21.090(1)(g) and the remainder NRS 21.090(1)(z). *See* 590 B.R. 517, fn.13.

In the second example, *In re Acosta and Fonsecz*, the bankruptcy court determined that from a balance of "\$42,000, the Debtors and the Trustee do not dispute that \$16,150 may be exempted . . . under NRS 21.090(1)(u) and an additional \$10,000 may be exempted . . . under NRS 21.090(1)(z)."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *In re Acosta and Fonsecz*, Bankr. D. Nev.: 17-15347-MKN, Doc. 55, 10/17/2019, p.3, lns. 14-17; <a href="https://www.nvb.uscourts.gov/downloads/opinions/mkn-17-15347-jorge-a-acosta-beatriz-fonseca.pdf">https://www.nvb.uscourts.gov/downloads/opinions/mkn-17-15347-jorge-a-acosta-beatriz-fonseca.pdf</a>

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